
U.S. DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

FOURTH DIVISION 
                                           
                  
Anna Vue Herr (a/k/a Hlao Herr) and     )                
Leng Herr, on behalf of themselves and ) 
their minor children A.H., C.H. and N.H., )  File No. ____________________ 
   ) 
  Plaintiffs, ) 
   ) 
 vs.  )             COMPLAINT 
   )             
Bill Peterson, Carl Blad, Timothy Devick,  )           JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
John Sheneman, Griffin Hillbo, Jeffery Kading, ) 
Mark Kaspszak and Ricardo Muro, individually, ) 
and in their capacities as Minneapolis Police )    
Officers; Terry Bean, Rick Palaia, Mary Jerde, ) 
and Carrie Donarski, individually, and in their ) 
capacities as Hennepin County Deputies;   ) 
Deputies/Officers Coopet, Burds, Sweitzer,  ) 
(first names unknown) individually, and in their ) 
capacities as peace officers from unknown  ) 
jurisdictions; City of Minneapolis; Hennepin  ) 
County ; and the Metro Gang Strike Force, ) 
   )            
  Defendants. ) 
   ) 
 

INTRODUCTION  

1. Plaintiffs bring this action for money damages and declaratory and injunctive 

relief under 42 U.S.C. §1983, 42 USC §1988 and the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution against the named individual Defendants in their individual capacities 

and in their capacities as law enforcement personnel, the City of Minneapolis, Hennepin County 

and the Metro Gang Strike Force.  Plaintiffs also bring related causes of action under Minnesota 

law, including claims for assault, battery, false imprisonment, infliction of emotional distress and 

for just compensation under Minn. Stat. §626.74. 

CASE 0:09-cv-02741-RHK-FLN   Doc. 1   Filed 10/02/09   Page 1 of 10



 

 
 
 2 

2. These claims arise as a result of the execution of a search warrant at the residence 

of Plaintiffs on October 4, 2007, by the individual Defendants, where the Metro Gang Strike 

Force, acting through one or more of the individual Defendants, applied for a search warrant 

without probable cause and where the individual Defendants who executed the search warrant 

used excessive force against the Plaintiffs, exceeded the lawful scope of the search, damaged 

Plaintiffs’ personal property and illegally detained and/or seized the Plaintiffs, all in violation of 

their rights.   

JURISDICTION  

3. Jurisdiction is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331, 28 U.S.C. §1343, 28 U.S.C. 

§1367, 28 U.S.C. §2201, 28 U.S.C. §2202, and the aforementioned statutory and constitutional 

provisions.  

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Anna Herr is the co-owner of the private residence located at 1218 Oliver 

Avenue North, Minneapolis, Minnesota, where she resided at all times material to the claims 

herein.  She is the wife of Leng Herr and the mother of the minor Plaintiffs A.H., C.H. and N.H.  

She currently resides in Brooklyn Park, Minnesota. 

5. Plaintiff Leng Herr is the co-owner of the private residence located at 1218 Oliver 

Avenue North, Minneapolis, Minnesota, where he resided at all times material to the claims 

herein.  He is the husband of Anna Herr and the father of the minor Plaintiffs A.H., C.H. and 

N.H.  He currently resides in Brooklyn Park, Minnesota.  

6. Defendant City of Minneapolis is a municipality in the State of Minnesota, the 

employer of Defendants Bill Peterson, Carl Blad, Timothy Devick, John Sheneman, Griffin 

Hillbo, Jeffery Kading, Mark Kaspszak, and Ricardo Muro. 
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7. Defendants Bill Peterson, Carl Blad, Timothy Devick, John Sheneman,, Griffin 

Hillbo, Jeffery Kading, Mark Kaspszak, and Ricardo Muro are police officers with Defendant 

City of Minneapolis.  They are sued individually and in their capacities as City of Minneapolis 

police officers. 

8. Defendant Metro Gang Strike Force is a multi-jurisdictional, law enforcement 

agency operating under the supervision of and with funding from the Minnesota Department of 

Public Safety.  

9. Based on information and belief, Defendants Deputy Terry Bean, Deputy Carrie 

Donarski, Deputy Rick Palaia, and Detective Mary Jerde are employed by the Hennepin County 

Sheriff’s Office and, at all material times herein, were assigned to the Metro Gang Strike Force.  

They are sued individually and in their capacities as employees of Hennepin County and 

members of the Metro Gang Strike Force. 

10. Based on information and belief, Defendants Coopet, Burdy, and Sweitzer are law 

enforcement personnel employed by unknown municipalities and/or political subdivisions who, 

at all material times herein, were assigned to the Metro Gang Strike Force.  They are sued 

individually and in their capacities as employees of the unknown municipalities and/or political 

subdivisions and members of the Metro Gang Strike Force.  

11. Defendant Hennepin County is a political subdivision of the State of Minnesota. 

12. At all times described in this Complaint, Defendants acted under the color of law.   

FACTS 

13. On October 4, 2007, at approximately 9:30 p.m., Anna Herr was in her house at 

1218 Oliver Avenue North, Minneapolis, Minnesota, with her children and their friends when 

police officers broke down the front door without knocking or announcing their presence.  The 
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police officers, who were heavily armed and masked, rushed into the house with their guns 

drawn.   

14. At the time the police broke into the house, two of the Herr’s minor children, ages 

14 and 12, were in the living room sitting on the sofa watching television.  When the police 

broke down the door, the children began to scream and cry.  The officers pointed their guns at 

the children and told them to shut up.  Then the officers forced the children to lie face down on 

the floor, handcuffed them behind their backs and covered their heads with towels and/or sheets. 

15. At the time the police broke in, Anna Herr was in her bedroom with her 8 year-

old son preparing to go to sleep.  When she heard the commotion and screams coming from the 

living room, she got out of bed and opened the door to see what was happening.  As soon as she 

opened the door and began to step through the doorway, she was grabbed by one of the officers 

and forcefully thrown onto the floor face first.  The officer then kicked her twice in the side, 

began swearing at her and put his foot on her neck.  After that, the officer put his knee in Anna 

Herr’s back, pulled her hands back hard and placed handcuffs tightly on her wrists.  He then 

dragged Anna Herr down the hallway and into the living room where the other members of the 

household were laying.   

16. Defendants took mug shot style photographs of Plaintiffs (excluding Plaintiff 

Leng Herr) holding up pieces of paper with their names printed on them.  Defendants also took 

each Plaintiff separately into a room, including the minor children, but excluding Leng Herr, and 

questioned them.  

17. In the course of conducting the search, Defendants unreasonably damaged the 

property of Plaintiffs, including breaking doors and damaging walls and ceilings.  Defendants 

also unreasonably scattered various items of personal property and ransacked the home. 
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18. At no time did Plaintiffs or anyone else in the house attempt to resist the officers 

or flee.  At no time did Plaintiffs or anyone else in the house say anything inappropriate to the 

officers.  At all times, Plaintiffs were cooperative with the officers. 

19. At the time the police broke into Plaintiffs’ home, Plaintiff Leng Herr was driving 

home from his work as a truck driver.  When he arrived, he found the house seriously damaged 

and his family frightened, upset and crying.  He also observed that his wife Anna was hurt and 

having difficulty breathing.  He called an ambulance, but the medical personnel determined that 

Anna Herr did not appear to be in need of immediate emergency care.  Later, however, when 

Anna did not appear to be improving, Leng Herr took his wife to the hospital for further 

observation and treatment.   

20. As a result of the unreasonable and unnecessary force used against her, Plaintiff 

Anna Herr suffered permanent injuries to her neck and back that have required ongoing medical 

care.   

21. As a result of the unreasonable and unnecessary force used against her, Plaintiff 

Anna Herr suffered emotional pain and stress that has required medical care. 

22. As a result of the damage done to their home and their fear of further harm from 

Defendants, Plaintiffs were forced to leave their home at 1218 Oliver Avenue North and relocate 

to Brooklyn Park, Minnesota. 

23. Defendant Terry Bean’s application for, and execution of, the search warrant was 

unlawful, in that a reasonably well-trained officer should have known that the allegations of the 

warrant affidavit were either false, made with reckless disregard for the truth and/or failed to 

establish probable cause for the search.  
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24. Upon information and belief, Defendants did not seize any contraband as a result 

of the search and seizure.  

25. Defendants unlawfully detained and/or seized persons during the execution of the 

search warrant, including Plaintiffs, for unreasonable periods of time and with excessive force.  

26. The actions of the individual Defendants represent an established practice and 

custom of the Metro Gang Strike Force, which was known to and condoned by supervisory 

officers.   

27. The actions of the individual Defendants represent an established practice and 

custom of the City of Minneapolis Police Department, which was known to and condoned by 

supervisory officers.   

28. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to 

suffer losses, including physical injury, mental anguish, anxiety, and emotional distress, some or 

all of which injuries may be permanent in nature, expenses for treatment, loss of enjoyment of 

life, loss of earning capacity, damage to personal and professional reputation, and other financial 

losses.  

29. The actions of Defendants were intentional in that they were taken with intent to 

injure the Plaintiffs or in reckless disregard of their rights.   

COUNT I 

FOURTH AMENDMENT VIOLATIONS 

30.  The actions of the Defendants constitute a violation of Plaintiffs’ rights under the 

Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, to be free from 

unreasonable searches of their private residence and unreasonable seizures of their persons and 

personal property. 
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COUNT II 

EQUAL PROTECTION 

31.  The actions of the Defendants have deprived of the Plaintiffs of their rights to 

equal protection under the law, in that Defendants treated Plaintiffs differently than similarly 

situated citizens for reasons unrelated to legitimate governmental objectives, with an intent to 

injure Plaintiffs, and in a manner which was arbitrary and irrational.  

32.  The Defendants’ unlawful actions towards Plaintiffs were motivated by Plaintiffs’ 

ethnicity, race, color and/or national origin.  

COUNT III 

42 U.S.C. SECTION 1983 

33.  The actions of the Defendants, taken under color of law, were unreasonable, 

constituted an excessive use of force, violated Plaintiffs rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution to be free from unreasonable searches and 

seizures, and were not the actions of reasonably well-trained police officers and were actions 

which shock the conscience.  Further, said actions violated well-established and clearly 

enunciated constitutional rights of Plaintiffs, including but not limited to the right to be free from 

use of excessive force, violations of due process, deprivation of liberty rights and interests, and 

the right to equal protection of the laws. 

COUNT IV 

42 U.S.C. SECTION 1983 

(FAILURE TO PREVENT CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION) 

34. Defendants, in each permitting the other Defendant to allow and permit the use of 

excessive force against Plaintiff Anna Herr and to otherwise violate the Plaintiffs’ clearly 
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established constitutional rights, failed to take reasonable and required steps to prevent the other 

Defendants from violating the Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights although they had an official duty 

to do so.  Defendants maliciously and/or deliberately failed to take any and/or all reasonable 

steps or necessary precautions required to avoid or prevent the constitutional violations set forth 

in the Counts I-III of this Complaint, despite their clearly-established legal and constitutional 

duty to do so. 

COUNT V 

CLAIMS UNDER MINN. STAT. §626.74 

35.  Plaintiffs seek damages from Hennepin County, the employer of Deputy Terry 

Bean and the “responsible government unit” as defined by Minn. Stat. §626.74, for damage to 

their personal property by Defendants, pursuant to Minn. Stat. §626.74.  

36.  Plaintiffs seek damages from Hennepin County, the City of Minneapolis, and 

unknown municipalities and/or political subdivisions as the employers and “responsible 

government units” as defined by Minn. Stat. §626.74, for damage to their personal property 

caused by the negligence of individual Defendants, pursuant to Minn. Stat. §626.74.  

COUNT VI 

BATTERY 

37.  Plaintiffs seek damages from the individual Defendants for the common law tort 

of battery.  

COUNT VII 

ASSAULT 

38.  Plaintiffs seek damages from the individual Defendants for the common law tort 

of assault.  
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COUNT VIII 

FALSE IMPRISONMENT 

39.  Plaintiffs seek damages from the individual Defendants for the common law tort 

of false imprisonment.  

COUNT IX 

INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

40.  Plaintiffs seek damages from the individual Defendants for the common law tort 

of intentional infliction of emotional distress.  

COUNT X 

NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

41.  Plaintiffs seek damages from the individual Defendants for the common law tort 

of negligent infliction of emotional distress.  

 

RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Court grant the following relief:  

1. Order the Defendants to return to Plaintiffs all property seized from Plaintiffs;  

2. Order the Defendants to destroy any photographs or other personal identifying 

information of the Plaintiffs obtained as a result of above actions and to purge any 

databases maintained by Defendants of all such information;  

3. Order judgment against the Defendants, jointly and severally, to pay 

compensatory and punitive damages, the costs of this action, and reasonable 

attorney fees;  
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4. Order judgment against the Defendants, jointly and severally, to compensate 

Plaintiffs for damage to and loss of their property, pursuant to Minn. Stat. 

§626.74;  

5. Find that the acts and practices of the Defendants are unconstitutional; and 

6. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.  

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 
 

The Plaintiffs request a jury trial on all counts. 

      CHRASTIL and STEINBERG, P.L.L.P. 
 
 
 
Dated: October 2, 2009        By:  s/Rockford R. Chrastil   
      Rockford R. Chrastil, #145518 
      Jonathan G. Steinberg, #104851 
      Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
      1155 Grain Exchange-East Building 
      412 South Fourth Street 
                             P.O. Box 15085                                        
      Minneapolis, Minnesota 55415-0085 
           Telephone:  (612) 344-1560 
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